I. Introduction 

The Washington Condominium Act, RCW ch. 64.34, states the 

general rule that a 67% supermajority vote is required to amend the 

declaration of condominium. RCW 64.34.264(1). This is subject to a 

carve-out in .264(4) for exceptional amendments on which both a 90% 

yes vote and "the vote or approval of the owner of each unit particularly 

affected" are required - viz., amendments that "create or increase special 

declarant rights, increase the number of units, change the boundaries of 

any unit, the allocated interests of a unit, or the uses to which any unit is 

restricted. " Well established principles of statutory construction 

demonstrate that the phrase "the uses to which any unit is restricted" 

refers to the land use classifications of residential and nonresidential. 

Filmore's contention, that '''[u]se' must include all aspects to which a 

buyer may intend and/or expect to utilize his/her unit," is contrary to such 

principles and would reach so broadly as to swallow the general rule. 

Accordingly, a condominium association may amend the declaration by a 

67% vote to create a "rental cap" - a limit on the number of units that 

can be leased to tenants - because the use of the units remains the same, 

i. e., residential. The Twelfth Amendment to the declaration of the 

appellant Unit Owners Association of Centre Pointe Condominium (the 

"Association") therefore satisfies RCW 64.34.264. 
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II. Assignment of Error and Issues Pertaining Thereto 

A. Assignment of Error 

The court below erred in entering its Order of February 8, 2013, 

which granted the CR 56 motion of plaintiff Filmore LLLP ("Filmore") 

and stated a declaratory judgment in its favor, as follows: "That the 

Twelfth Amendment to the Declaration [of Centre Pointe Condominium] 

is void and shall not be enforceable for lack of 90% approval." A copy of 

this order is in the Clerk's Papers ("CP") at 339-42. 

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error 

The primary issue involves interpretation of subsections (1) and 

(4) ofRCW 64.34.264 and is as follows. 

1. Does an amendment to the declaration of 
condominium that creates a "rental cap" on the number of 
units that owners can lease to tenants require unit owner 
approval by a supermajority of 67% under RCW 
64.34.264(1)? Or must the higher 90% level in RCW 
64.34.264(4), and also its requirement of "the agreement 
or vote of the owner of each unit particularly affected," id., 
be obtained for approval? 

This issue turns on the meaning of the word "use[ s]" in the 

Washington Condominium Act, RCW chapter 64.34 (the "WCA"), and in 

particular in the phrase within RCW 64.34.264(4), "change ... the uses 

to which any unit is restricted." 

Based on the analysis infra, 67% is the statutorily required level 
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of approval, not 90%. If the Court so holds, then the CR 56 order below 

must be reversed, and it is not necessary to reach the second issue. If the 

Court holds otherwise, then the second issue is: 

2. Under the doctrine of equitable estoppel, 
does the conduct of Filmore LLLP estop it, or at 
minimum, raise triable issues of fact as to whether it is 
estopped, from asserting the Twelfth Amendment to the 
Centre Point Declaration of Condominium is void and 
unenforceable for lack of 90% approval? 

III. Standard of Review 

The standard of review is de novo, in this appeal from a summary 

judgment order. See Johnson v. Ubar, LLC, 150 Wn. App. 533, 537,210 

P.3d 1021 (2009) In addition, de novo review is accorded a lower court's 

interpretation of a statute. See, e.g., In re Marriage of Brown, 159 Wn. 

App. 931, 935, 247 P.3d 466 (2011). 

IV. Statement of the Case 

Centre Pointe Condominium was formed in 2003 by a Declaration 

of Condominium recorded in Whatcom County.] CP 30. (Its original 

name, "Millenia Residences," was later changed to its current name. 

CP 104.) Three residential buildings with 97 units, and also a clubhouse, 

were built prior to 2011. CP 106. On October 20, 2011, the Association 

1 The governing legislation for Centre Pointe Condominium therefore is the 
WCA, ch. 64.34, which applies to all condominiums formed after July I, 1990. See 
RCW 64.34.010(1). The older Horizontal Property Regimes Act, RCW ch. 64.32, 
applies to condominiums formed prior to July I, 1990. 
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recorded the Twelfth Amendment to the declaration of condominium. 

CP 123-27. It states the amendment IS made pursuant to 

RCW 64.34.264(1) and Section 17.1 of the declaration, and further, that it 

was approved by owners of units to which at least 67% of the votes in the 

condominium association were allocated. CP 124,235. The 67% margin 

is the required approval level stated in RCW 64.34.264(1) and Section 

17.1 of the declaration. CP 68. The Twelfth Amendment created a 

"rental cap"; viz., it stated that the number of units in Centre Pointe 

Condominium permitted to be leased shall not exceed 30% of the total 

number of units, subject to certain limited exceptions. CP 125. 

The Association engaged attorney Greg Thulin to draft the 

Twelfth Amendment. See declaration of the immediate past president of 

the Association, Debbie Haddad. CP 234. Ms. Haddad also stated the 

Association's purposes in adopting the Twelfth Amendment, id., which 

included the facts that the ability of the members of the Association to 

sell the units depends upon the availability of prospective buyers to 

obtain financing, and that the FHA and lenders have guidelines under 

which their funds' willingness to make or guarantee loans is decreased or 

nonexistent if there is extensive leasing at a condominium. CP 234. 

Filmore had purchased the Building D pad and accompanying 

development rights from a bank, which had foreclosed on a prior 
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declarant's interest. CP 105,142. Filmore states that it is a successor 

declarant. CP 105. On December 27, 2011, the Construction Deed of 

Trust by which Filmore secured financing for its construction of Building 

D was recorded. CP 145. On September 28,2012, Filmore, as successor 

declarant, recorded the Fourteenth Amendment to the declaration, CP 

104-07, which established 35 residential units in Building D. 

Construction of the units was still going on. CP 237. On October 20-21, 

2011, Filmore held its "grand opening" 'pre-sale' event by showing 

display units in Building D. The Association made available to him its 

clubhouse as a reception area to hold an open house for the event. 

CP 237-38, 245-46. No units were sold because they were overpriced. 

CP 140,237,242. 

Several days earlier, on October 15, 2012, Filmore had filed its 

Complaint in the instant case, praying for a declaratory judgment and 

damages and alleging that the adoption of the Twelfth Amendment 

violated RCW 64.34.264(4) and Section 17.3 in the declaration. CP 4-10. 

As discussed below, Subsection (4) in RCW 64.34.264 states certain 

exceptions to the general requirement of 67% approval from unit owners 

of amendments to the declaration and, for such exceptions, requires a 

90% level of approval and, further, that "the vote or agreement of the 
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owner of each unit particularly affected" be obtained.2 Filmore kept its 

filing of the lawsuit secret from the Association until the following 

month. CP 237. 

On January 9, 2013, Filmore moved for summary judgment. The 

court below granted the motion in the February 8, 2013 Order to which 

error is assigned. The Association petitioned for discretionary review of 

the February 8, 2013 order, which this Court granted by order entered 

June 17,2013. 

The briefing to the court below (and this Court in seeking 

discretionary review) pointed out that "rental cap" amendments to 

condominium declarations have commonly been adopted by the 67% 

approval level specified in RCW 64.34.263(1) of the WCA.3 The reason 

for doing so was to refute Filmore's contention that no reasonable 

conclusion could be reached other than that which Filmore advocates.4 

2 Section 17.3 of the Centre Pointe declaration of condominium quotes the 
statutory language ofRCW 64.34.264(4) almost verbatim. CP 69. 

3 During the period of time from 36 months before the Twelfth Amendment to 
the Centre Point declaration (\ 0/20/20 II) took effect to 12 months after, there were at 
least ten other "rental cap" amendments for condominiums, besides Centre Pointe's, 
recorded in Whatcom County that were approved by a 67% level under RCW 
64.34.264(1). CP 261, 158-59, 164-221. These were drafted and recorded by five 
different attorneys in Whatcom County, CP 261, one of whom is with the firm 
representing plaintiff Filmore in this matter and filed a declaration in support Filmore's 
CR 56 motion. CP 27, 164, 176, 204. 

4 CP 22, 260; see also Respondent's Answer to Appellant's Petition Motion for 
Discretionary Review, filed April 25, 2013 at 7 (asserting the statutory interpretation 
Filmore seeks is "so obvious") 
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The fact that such a preponderance of amendmentsS had been passed and 

recorded by associations with 67% approval (including three in which the 

law firm representing Filmore herein had been the drafter and recording 

agent) belied Filmore's argument. The Association, in this appeal, does 

not suggest that this Court should base its decision on the present custom 

or practice of attorneys in Whatcom County or elsewhere in Washington. 

But the Association herein notes this predominant practice to make clear 

that the Association does not back away from or disavow this prominent 

aspect of the briefing below. In the same vein, Filmore should not try to 

sway this Court with its contention - made in CR 56 opening and reply 

papers below - that all "commentators" endorse Filmore's position. See 

CP 25; Respondents' Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary 

Review at 7. 6 

5 It is not a unanimous practice. Filmore cited two Whatcom County rental cap 
amendments from 2007 and 2010 that were enacted with 90% approval. CP 306-13. 

6 Filmore's "commentators" are not law professors (and the "comments" are 
not law review publications), but rather attorneys in practice, all admitted since 2000. 
Filmore submitted website printouts and/or business development documents created by 
three such attorneys, CP 28, and also (from one of them) a declaration in its CR 56 reply 
papers below, CP 294. The Association does not agree that such comments qualify as 
persuasive authority to inform a Washington court's ruling on a CR 56 motion. In 
addition, the firm of the attorney from whom Filmore submitted below a declaration on 
reply has not abstained from drafting or recording rental cap amendments with 67% 
approval. CP 327-28 & 331-36. 
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v. Legal Authority and Argument 

A. Under the WCA, 67% Is the Required Level of 
Approval for a Rental Cap Amendment 

The WCA states 67% is the required approval level for 

amendments to condominium declarations generally: 

(I) Except . . . as limited by subsection (4) of 
this section, the declaration, including the survey maps 
and plans, may be amended only by vote or agreement of 
unit owners of units to which at least sixty-seven percent 
of the votes in the association are allocated, or any larger 
percentage the declaration specifies: PROVIDED, That the 
declaration may specify a smaller percentage only if all of 
the units are restricted exclusively to nonresidential use. 

RCW 64.34.264(1) (boldface and italics added). As indicated by the 

opening clause in the above subsection, certain exceptional amendments 

require a 90% level of approval, and an additional requirement: 

(4) Except to the extent expressly permitted or 
required by other provisions of this chapter, no 
amendment may create or increase special declarant 
rights, increase the number of units, change the 
boundaries of any unit, the allocated interests of a unit, 
or the uses to which any unit is restricted, in the absence 
of the vote or agreement of the owner of each unit 
particularly affected and the owners of units to which at 
least ninety percent of the votes in the association are 
allocated other than the declarant or such larger percentage 
as the declaration provides. 

RCW 64.34.264(4) (boldface and italics added). 

The WCA does not contain an explicit definition of "use." Well-

established principles of statutory construction demonstrate, however, 
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that subsection .264(4) does not apply to a rental cap amendment. 

Filmore's position is that "use" of a unit means something 

different than the fundamental function or activity that goes on in it -

i.e., residing in it or, alternatively, carrying on a business or commerce. 

Instead, Filmore has argued that "use" of a unit includes a lease by an 

owner to a tenant because, at common law, "one of the 'sticks in the 

bundle' of real property rights" is the ability to transfer possession in 

exchange for rents. CP 23.7 The Association disagrees. The correct 

meaning is that regardless of whether it is an owner or a tenant who lives 

in a unit, the "use" is the same - residential; and regardless of whether 

an owner or tenant carries on a retail or commercial business in the unit, 

the "use" is nonresidential. 

1. Well Established Rules of Statutory 
Construction Show "Use" in the WCA 
Does Not Mean Lease 

The "fundamental objective in construing a statute is to ascertain 

and carry out the intent of the legislature." Federal Way Sch. Dis!. No. 

2010 v. Vinson, 172 Wn.2d 756,765,261 P.3d 145 (2011). "We construe 

the meaning of a statute by reading it in its entirety, and considering the 

entire sequence of all statutes relating to the same subject matter. Id. 

7 More generally, Filmore's position is that '''use' must include all aspects to 
which a buyer may intend and/or expect to utilize his/her unit." See infra at 18-20. 
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(citation omitted); see also Rivas v. Overlake Hasp. Med. Ctr., 164 

Wn.2d 261, 266-67, 189 P.3d 793 (2008) (legislative intent "glean[ed] 

... by considering the legislation as a whole and interpreting the words in 

context"); In re Estate of Blessing, 174 Wn.2d 228, 231, 273 P.3d 975 

(2012) ("Plain meaning is discerned from the ordinary meaning of the 

language at issue, the context of the statute in which the provision is 

found, related provisions and the statutory scheme as a whole"); City of 

Auburn v. Gauntt, 174 Wn.2d 321, 274 P.3d 1033 (2012) ("When 

interpreting statutes, we do not read words in isolation[, but] we read 

words within the context of the whole statute and larger statutory 

scheme"). 

The reason why 67% is the required level of approval for a rental 

cap amendment was recognized prior to Centre Pointe's Twelfth 

Amendment, by counsel different from the attorney who drafted the 

rental cap for Centre Pointe. The basis, concisely stated, is: 

9.l.1l.10. Uses. "The uses to which any unit is 
restricted," as the phrase is used in Section 17.3 of the 
Declaration, means a restriction based on a land use 
classification of residential or nonresidential (such as 
those restnctIOns described in the Washington 
Condominium Act at RCW 64.34.216(1)(e), 264(1), 
268(1), 348(1), 352(8), 400(1) and 400(2)[)]. 

CP 181 (boldface added). This paragraph appeared 111 a rental cap 

amendment that was recorded by the same law firm presently 
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representing Filmore in this lawsuit, for Bayview Court Condominium 

Association. CP 176, 183. (The referenced Section 17.3 in the Bayview 

Court declaration tracked virtually verbatim the statutory language in 

RCW 64.34.264(4) in stating the exceptional types of amendments for 

which a 90% vote supermajority rather than 67% is required. CP 230.8) 

Under this meaning of "uses," the Bayview Court rental cap amendment 

was passed by a 67% vote, like that of Centre Pointe. 

The above-quoted paragraph correctly identifies the meaning of 

the phrase "the uses to which any unit is restricted," It conforms to well-

established principles of statutory construction. As is stated in Lake v. 

Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n, 169 Wn.2d 516,243 P.3d 1283 (2010): 

Statutory interpretation begins with the statute's plain 
meaning. Plain meaning is to be discerned from the 
ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context of 
the statute in which that provision is found, related 
provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole. 

ld. at 5269 (boldface added; internal quotation marks omitted). The Lake 

court further stated: 

8 It also is identical to Section 17.3 of the Centre Pointe Declaration. CP 69. 
The original declarations of both condominiums were drafted by the same attorney. CP 
30,223. 

9 The Lake court was construing the Horizontal Property Regimes Act, RCW 
ch. 64.32, for a pre-I 990 condominium. While there are important differences between 
the Horizontal Property Regimes Act, passed by the legislature in 1963, and the WCA, 
some of which are discussed infra, the general principles and the tools of statutory 
construction should not vary. 
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Usually, the intended meaning is apparent from the 
surrounding context. 

Here, we look to the context of the other 
provisions of the HPRA. 

ld. at 528-29 (boldface added). "When the same words are used in 

related statutes, we must presume the legislature intended the words to 

have the same meaning." Clipse v. Michels Pipeline Constr., Inc., 154 

Wn. App. 573,579,225 P.3d 492 (2010); see also State v. Gonzalez, 168 

Wn.2d 256, 264, 226 P.3d 131, 135 (2010) ("[w]hen similar words are 

used in different parts of a statute, 'the meaning is presumed to be the 

same throughout'''); Bank of America, NA. v. Owens, 173 Wn.2d 40, 53-

54,266 P.3d 211 (2011) (same). 

Looking to such "other provisions" in the WCA, two sections 

state the disclosures required of the declarant to purchasers and the 

required content of a declaration, respectively. As to the first: 

(1) A public offering statement shall contain 
the following information: 

(g) A brief description of the permitted uses 
and use restrictions pertaining to the units and the 
common elements; 

(h) A brief description of the restrictions, if 
any, on the renting or leasing of units by the declarant or 
other unit owners, together with the rights, if any, of the 
declarant to rent or lease at least a majority of units; .... 

RCW 64.34.410(1 )(g), (h) (boldface added). As to the second, RCW 

64.34.216(1 )(n) states: 
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(l) The declaration for a condominium must 
contain: 

(n) Any restrictions in the declaration on use, 
occupancy, or alienation of the units; .... 

Id. (boldface added). Both provisions show that "use" has a different 

meaning than "leasing." The first has separate subparts for the two terms. 

The second has three different words - "use," "occupancy" and 

"alienation" - in listing the "restrictions" to be stated. A "well-settled 

principle of statutory construction is that 'each word of a statute is to be 

accorded meaning. '" I 0 Limits on the right to lease, to sublease, or to 

assign a leasehold are a restriction or restraint on "alienation." II 

2. The Terms "Residential Use" and 
"Nonresidential Use" Occur Repeatedly 
in the WCA 

The conclusion that "use" has a different statutory meaning than 

"leasing" is reinforced by reviewing the other instances in the WCA 

10 See, e.g., State v. Roggenkamp, 153 Wn.2d 614, 624, 106 P.3d 196 (2005) 
(holding further '" [T]he drafters of legislation ... are presumed to have used no 
superfluous words and we must accord meaning, if possible to every word in a statute,'" 
ellipsis and brackets by court). 

II See Shoemaker v. Shaug, 5 Wn. App. 700, 70 I & 704, 490 P.2d 439 (1971) 
(addressing a covenant precluding subleasing or assignment of premises); Ernst Home 
Center, Inc. v. Sato, 80 Wn. App. 473, 476 & 486, 910 P.2d 486 (1996) (same), citing 
Restatement (Second) of Property, Landlord and Tenant § 15.2; see also Shorewood 
West Condo Ass'n v. Sadri, 92 Wn. App. 752, 759, 966 P.2d 372 (1998) (observing 
"[r]estrictions on leasing have been upheld as reasonable restraints on alienation"), rev'd 
on other grounds, 140 Wn.2d 47,992 P.2d 1008 (2000); L. Schiller, "Limitations on the 
Enforceability of Condominium Rules," 22 Stetson L. Rev. 1133,1158 (1993) 
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where the word "use[ s]" appears in the statutory text, with particular 

focus on where the word appears in conjunction with "units." In 13 

WCA sections, the word "residential" or "nonresidential" appears 

immediately before "use[s]." One is in the statute at issue, RCW 

64.34.264, in the proviso at the end of .264(1), see supra at 8. The other 

12 are: 

64.34.216(l)(e) ("nonresidential use") 64.34.415(2) ("residential use") 

64.34.268( 1) ("nonresidential uses") 64.34.440(2) (both appear) 

64.34.348( 1) ("nonresidential uses") 64.34.440(6)(f)(i) ("residential use") 

64.34.352(8) ("nonresidential use") 64.34.445(3) ("residential use") 

64.34.380(4) ("nonresidential use") 64.34.450( 1) ("nonresidential use") 

64.34.400( 1) ("nonresidential use") 64.34.450(2) ("residential use") 

Thus, throughout the WCA, repeatedly, the context in which "use[s]" 

appears is immediately next to "residential" or "nonresidential." And, in

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