No. 70013-8-I

# COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FILMORE LLLP, a Washington limited liability limited partnership,

Respondent,

٧.

UNIT OWNERS ASSOCIATION OF CENTRE POINTE CONDOMINIUM, a Washington nonprofit miscellaneous corporation,

Appellant.

#### RESPONDENT'S APPELLATE BRIEF

BELCHER SWANSON LAW FIRM, PLLC By: Douglas K. Robertson, WSBA #16421 Attorney for Respondents/Defendants 900 Dupont Street Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 734-6390



# **

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

#### VI. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. <u>Summary Judgment is Appropriate</u>: All of the facts are undisputed regarding both issues before the court:

- Definition of Use: All of the facts are set forth in recorded documents and/or in undisputed declarations.
- Equitable Estoppel: For the purposes of this appeal, Filmore
  and this court should assume all the facts asserted by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP 139-140. Andre Molnar Declaration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP 4-10. The Complaint.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 314-323

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Ski Acres, Inc. v. Kittitas County, 118 Wn.2d 852, 827 P.2d 1000 (1992).

Association are true and not disputed.

With no disputed issues of material fact, summary judgment is appropriate to resolve the issues of law before the court.

- B. <u>Twelfth Amendment Void for Failing to Obtain 90%</u>
  Approval.
- 1. Consumer Protection Purpose of The Act Requires that "Uses" Include Rental Restrictions. To understand and analyze unit owners' rights regarding condominiums, the Condominium Act's (Act) strong policy and purpose to protect individual residential condominium purchasers and owners must be recognized. Condominiums are creatures of statute that involve complex interlocking legal rights and obligations. Our legislature acknowledged that given this complexity, the Act must provide heightened protections to condominium purchasers and owners. In addition to the specific text noted below, the legislature included an entire section entitled "Protection of Condominium Purchasers." Further, the Official Comments to the Act state:

The best "consumer protection" that the law can provide to any purchaser is to ensure that such purchaser has an opportunity to acquire an

One Pacific Towers Homeowners' Ass'n. v. HAL Real Estate Investments, Inc., 148 Wn.2d 319, 61 P.3d 1094 (2002). An entire section of the Act falls under the title "Protection of Condominium Purchasers."

<sup>18</sup> RCW 64.34, Article 4.

understanding of the nature of the products which it is purchasing.

The intent is clear — require clear disclosure in the condominium documents so that the buyer/owner knows what they are, and are not, purchasing.

One of the most important rights that can be compromised through condominium ownership are restrictions upon use. Residential owners/buyers intend to live in their condominiums with certain expectations of their allowed use. But unlike typical single family homes, a residential condominium unit may have all types of restrictions on use: Over 55 only, no/limited leasing, timesharing restrictions, pet or smoking restrictions, etc. So a principal area where protection of the consumer is necessary is the clear and written disclosures of all restrictions on use.

The legislature established specific protection to accomplish this. First, restrictions on use must be in the Declaration:

(1) The declaration for a condominium must contain:

"(n) Any restrictions in the declaration on use, occupancy or alienation of the units;" 19

Second, restrictions on use must be listed in the public offering statement (along with a more detailed list of restrictions). Third,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> RCW 64.34.216(1).

any amendment of the Declaration of the "uses to which a unit is restricted" requires an affirmative vote of 90% of the unit owners.<sup>20</sup>

The intent of the Act in this area is clear: Protect consumers so that they have a full understanding of any use restrictions and that such understanding cannot be changed without a supermajority vote. This intent must guide interpretation of the Centre Pointe Declaration and the Act.

2. Centre Pointe Declaration Defines Leasing as a "Use to which Units are Restricted." The Condominium Act itself does not define "use" or "uses to which any Unit is restricted." But the Centre Pointe Declaration does: It has an entire section of use restrictions specifically identified: Section IX "Permitted Use; Architectural Uniformity."21 A subsection of that is clearly identified as "9.1 Permitted Uses." This subsection is included to specifically comply with RCW 64.34.216(1) — a clear and definitive statement of the uses to which the condominiums are allowed/restricted. There are two portions confirming that rental restrictions are considered a "use" under this Declaration.

Section 9.1.1. Under the heading of "Residential Uses," paragraph 9.1.1 provides that all "other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> RCW 64.34.264(4).
<sup>21</sup> Article IX of the Declaration.

reasonable uses normally incidental to such [residential] purposes" are allowed. Leasing of a residential unit is a reasonable use that is normally incidental to residential purposes. This is undisputed since over 35 of the units in the complex had been rented in Buildings A, B and C prior to passage of the Twelfth Amendment.<sup>22</sup> This is a direct grant of the right to lease. The grant of this right of use requires a supermajority to take it away.

b. <u>Section 9.1.14</u>. This subsection is entitled "Lease Restrictions" and sets forth specific restrictions on the use of units for leasing — leases must be in writing and be for at least one year and the tenants are subject to the Declaration. But then that section provides:

"Other than the foregoing, there is no restriction on the right of any Unit Owner to lease his or her Unit."<sup>23</sup>

This unambiguous language of the Declaration leaves no room for interpretation — leasing is a use that is restricted to a certain level, but beyond that, all unit owners have no other restrictions on use of their units for leasing.

c. <u>Construction of Declaration</u>. In addition to these unambiguous references to leasing as a use that is

<sup>23</sup> CP 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>CP 139-140. See footnote 8.

restricted, the structure of the Declaration is informative. Subsection 9.1.1 sets out 16 paragraphs of use restrictions. This specific listing establishes the clear and unambiguous intent that the Declarant considered these as use restrictions that must be identified in the Declaration per RCW 64.34.216(1)(n).

The Association's statement that a "title is not determinative of its legal effect" is incorrect. Our courts have always recognized that captions are part of the contract and are to be reviewed to determine the intent of the parties.<sup>24</sup>

We look at both the text and the captions in a policy to determine the policy's coverage.<sup>25</sup>

In the <u>Stanley v. Safeco Ins. Co. of America</u> case, the court was faced with a situation where the caption and the body of the policy created ambiguity. The court found that the body of the contract should control. But both the majority and the dissent recognized that to interpret the contract, the captions are an important facet.

But here, the titles, the structure and the associated text are all consistent in establishing the intent of the original Declarant:

 The Article and Section titles clearly identify the restrictions as "Use Restrictions;

Stanley v. Safeco Ins. Co. of America, 109 Wn.2d 738, 747 P.2d 1091 (1988).
 Id. at 745, Dissent.

- 9.1.1 grants to unit owners all uses normally incidental to residential use, which must include renting/leasing;
- 9.1.14 limits the foregoing grant to require leases of at least one year/be in writing, but then confirms no other restriction;
- The other restrictions in 9.1 clearly address use restrictions.
   The unambiguous language and structure leave but one conclusion possible in this condominium, leasing is a use to which restrictions were imposed.

Because the Declaration defined leasing as a use that is restricted, 17.3 applies to any amendment of such use. Accordingly, the Twelfth Amendment is void for failing to receive 90% approval.

d. <u>Association Position Violates Basic Contract</u>

Interpretation. The Association asserts that the Declaration should be read so that the restrictions on leasing in the Declaration are not restrictions on the use of a unit. Such an interpretation violates a basic rule of contract interpretation:

An interpretation of a contract that gives effect to all provisions is favored over an interpretation that renders a provision ineffective, and a court should not disregard language that the parties have used.<sup>26</sup>

12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Snohomish County Public Transp. Benefit Area Corp. v. FirstGroup, 173 Wn.2d 829, 840, 271 P.3d 850 (2012).

The Association's position would require this court to:

- Ignore the title of the Article and Section stating that these are "Permitted Uses;"
- Ignore the portion of 9.1.1 granting to the unit owners all uses incidental to residential purposes (for leasing is certainly one);
- Interpret Section 9.1.3-9.1.16 as not being use restrictions.27

Such a decision would put buyers/owners of condominiums at severe risk: What you read in plain English in the Declaration may not be truly binding.

Conclusion. Although not binding upon e. this court, Judge Snyder's analysis was simple, direct and correct:

"If you're going to restrict what they've already granted, you have to have the 90 percentage vote."28

Judge Snyder then looked to the Centre Pointe Declaration and noted Section 9.1.14 of the lease where the right to lease was specifically granted. He continued:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> If these paragraphs are not "use" restrictions, then they need not be in the Declaration. Would they then be merely gratuitous? For this the Association has no explanation.
<sup>28</sup> VP 30, lines 1-3.

"This is a restriction on an existing use."29

He rightly concluded that under this Declaration, since the right to use the unit for leasing was granted, it takes a 90% vote to take it away. Judge Snyder did so looking to the language of this specific Declaration, not the statute's general language.

Filmore requests that this court hold that the Twelfth Amendment is void upon the same basis as Judge Snyder: The Centre Pointe Declaration identifies leasing as a "use" that is restricted and that any change in such use restriction required a 90% vote. Pursuant to Section 17.3 of the Declaration, the Twelfth Amendment is void.

- 3. Leasing is a "Use" Pursuant to the Act. Filmore asserts that this case can and should be decided upon the specific language of this Declaration, and not upon interpretation of the Act. Regardless, if the court desires to proceed to this issue, leasing is clearly one of the "uses" referenced in RCW 64.34.080 (1)(n) and .264(4).
- a. <u>Sadri defines Use</u>: The Washington State

  Supreme Court did determine under the Horizontal Property

  Regime Act (RCW 64.32) that use restrictions must include rental

<sup>29</sup> Id. at line 24.

restrictions. In <u>Shorewood West Condominium Association v.</u>

<u>Sadri</u>, <sup>30</sup> a Declaration created a condominium under the Horizontal Property Regime Act. The Declaration contained a restriction on use as follows:

"The property, units and limited common areas as described herein are restricted and intended to be utilized solely for residential purposes, and no rental or lease shall be permitted for less than a 30 day term.<sup>31</sup>

The association adopted an amendment to its Bylaws imposing a rental restriction, with no amendment of the Declaration. The association sued an owner, Sadri, to prohibit her from leasing her unit. In that case, the association asserted that only general limitations on use are required to be in the Declaration, not specific use restrictions (*i.e.*, only residential *versus* non-residential). The association asserted that it was general practice for courts around the country to only require reference to general limitations on use, not specific, in the Declaration. The court disagreed, noting almost a full page of other cases where the restrictions in declarations were much more specific. It further noted that even the Shorewood declaration had more specific description of uses. Upon this review

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Shorewood West Condominium Association vs. Sadri, 140 Wn.2d 47, 992 P.2d 1008 (2000).

<sup>31</sup> Id. at 50.

the court disagreed:

"Therefore, one should read "use" in RCW 64.32.090(7) to mean all uses and not just general categories of use such as residential use or commercial use. The provisions require that all restrictions on use should be in the declaration's statement of purpose."

Recognizing rental restrictions as a restriction on use, the court confirmed such change had to be implemented through an amendment of the Declaration. The rental restriction was void.<sup>33</sup>

This interpretation of the word "use" under the Horizontal Property Regime Act should be the same under the Condominium Act. The same logic is applicable and such interpretation fulfills the primary goal to protect consumers. Importantly, in the 13 years since the court's decision, the legislature has not amended the language of the Act to restrict "use" to just residential *versus* non-residential.

b. <u>The Act Requires Broad Definition of</u> "Uses":

i. Consumer Protection: Any interpretation of the Act must fulfill the legislature's clear intent to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> *Id.* at 56. The referenced statute in the quote is the requirement under the old Act regarding the requirement to define uses in the Declaration: RCW 64.32.090(7) "A statement of the purposes for which the building and each of the apartments are intended and restricted as to use."

<sup>33</sup> *Id.* at 57.

provide the significant consumer protection.<sup>34</sup> The legislature must have considered what "uses" are important to the consumer when writing the Act. Obviously, the distinction between residential/nonresidential is not one of primary concern: A residential buyer would only be looking at condominiums that are built for residential uses, so the concern of converting to non-residential uses is not of significant risk. What really matters to these consumers are limitations of the uses within the residential context — leasing, timeshare, age restrictions, etc. Recognition of the practical concerns makes it clear — for the Act to protect residential owners/buyers, the definition of "uses" must address the concerns this consuming public would have. Leasing is a key use of concern.

ii. Statutory Language: The legislative intent to have a very broad application of "uses" is unambiguously established by the language of the two applicable statutes and requires a broad meaning of "uses." The Act utilized the adjective any when setting the breadth of use restrictions.<sup>35</sup> "Any" is extremely broad, is in no means restrictive and means

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> See Section VI.B(1) above. <sup>35</sup> RCW 64.34.216(1)(n).

three or more. 36 Certainly not just one distinction between residential/non-residential as asserted by the Association. In the section requiring a supermajority for amendments, 37 the statute utilizes the plural, not the singular - "uses." By using the plural, the legislature recognized that more than one type of use distinction could be restricted, requiring a supermajority. Further, in both sections, the noun "use" is used — a word that is exceedingly broad. 39 At no time did the legislature include adjectives or modifiers of the word "use" in either statute that would support a narrow construction.

## iii. Other Basis for Broad Interpretation:

Over the years, the question of rental restrictions being a "use" has been an issue in this and other states. The expert commentators in this state agree that leasing restrictions are "use restrictions" that require a 90% approval by the unit owners. 40

Other states have confirmed that "use" means much more than residential versus non-residential. The Minnesota court of appeals held that rental restriction is a reasonable restriction on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> American Heritage Dictionary, Houghton, Mifflin Co., pg. 59 (1981).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> RCW 64.34.264(4).

<sup>38</sup> RCW 64.34.264(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> See Black's Law Dictionary, 4<sup>th</sup> Ed., pg. 1382 (1979). <sup>40</sup> CP 127-138, CP 294-300, CP 304-306.

use of a unit.<sup>41</sup> The court **rejected** the claim that a rental restriction is a restraint on alienation.<sup>42</sup> The court noted that other jurisdictions had also concluded that rental restrictions are restrictions on use and not restraints on alienation and confirmed the same.<sup>43</sup>

Also instructive is the fact that New York considers a limitation on pets a "use" restriction.<sup>44</sup> If the ability to have pets is important enough to be called a use, then surely the right to rent must be as well.

All aspects of the Act require an interpretation of "uses" that includes rental restrictions: The Act's defined intent, the specific language of the statutes, expert commentators and the <u>Sadri</u> case all support one conclusion: "Uses" must include rental restrictions.

c. No Basis for Association's Position: The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Breezy Point Holiday Harbor Lodge-Beachside Apartment Owners' Association vs. BP Partnership, 531 N.W.2d 917 (1995).

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